
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

March 7th , 2017  9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan J. Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Jeff Yawn 
 

3. Recognitions/Public Presentations  
A)  Citywide Strategic Plan kickoff presentation by consultants AMEC Foster 
B) Recognition of the findings associated with the Statesboro Fire Department’s recent 

VFIS (Volunteer Firemen’s Insurance Services) Risk Assessment Survey.  
C) Presentation of Employee Years of Service Awards 

 
4. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 
5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 02-21-2017 Council Minutes 
b) 02-21-2017 Executive Session Minutes 

   
6. Recognition and Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2017-11: A Resolution 

honoring Sgt. John Allen Smith upon his retirement for 29 years of service for the City of 
Statesboro Police Department. 

 
7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve Alcohol License Applications: 

A)  The Library 
      Martin Medrano 
      125 Gata Drive 
     Statesboro Ga 30458 
 
B)  Little Italy 
      Frank Cortese 
     450 South Main Street 
      Statesboro Ga 30458 
 

8. Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to Adopt   Ordinance 2017-07: An 
Ordinance to amend Section 6-19 of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
(Alcoholic Beverages) to modify the procedures for administrative hearings on license 
violations. 
 

9. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2017-07: A Resolution Authorizing the 
City Manager to apply for a grant from the Georgia Department of Transportation's  FY 
2017 Multimodal Safety & Access Program. 



 
 

10. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2017-12: A Resolution authorizing the 
City Manager to apply for the Georgia Department of Transportation's 2017 Additional 
Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant (LMIG) for Off-System Safety. If awarded, 
the grant will be applied to the Installation of Sidewalk on East Main/S.R. 24, Installation 
of a Pedestrian Crossing on Lester Road at Statesboro High School, and restriping of city 
streets. 

 
11. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2017-08: A Resolution authorizing the 

Mayor to enter into a lease agreement on behalf of the City in the amount of $300.00 per 
year with Norfolk Southern referred to as Activity 1215027 for the purpose of a dog park.  
 

12. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2017-09: A Resolution authorizing the 
Mayor to enter into a lease agreement on behalf of the City in the amount of $300.00 per 
year with Norfolk Southern referred to as Activity 1215028 for the purpose of a green 
space.  
 

13. Consideration of a Motion to Adopt Resolution 2017-10: A Resolution authorizing the 
waiver of any payment in lieu of taxes (PILOT) by the Statesboro Housing Authority to 
the City of Statesboro for the 2016 tax year in the amount of $20,941.98. 
 

14. Other Business from City Council 
 

15. City Managers Comments 
A) E-billing for utilities 
B) FY2018 Budget Retreat set for April 14th, 2017 

 
16. Public Comments (General) 

 
17. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss   “Potential 

Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 

18. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



























 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 

February 21, 2017 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on February 21, 2017 at 5:30p.m. in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Phil 
Boyum, Sam Lee Jones, Jeff Yawn, John Riggs and Travis Chance.  Also present were City 
Manager Randy Wetmore, Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling and 
City Attorney Cain Smith.   
 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan J. Moore. 
 
The Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance was led by Councilman Sam Lee Jones 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 01-17-2017 Council Minutes 
b) 02-07-2017 Council Minutes 
c) 02-07-2017 Executive Session Minutes 

 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve the consent 
agenda in its entirety. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2017-06: A Resolution Approving the 
Naming of Freedom Way and Buckhead Drive. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to approve Resolution 
2017-06: A Resolution approving the naming of Freedom Way and Buckhead Drive. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award a contract for the purchase of a combination sewer 
vacuum truck to Super Products LLC per NJPA Contract # 022014-SPL in the amount of 
$332,363.00. This item was budgeted in fiscal year 2017 under CIP# STM-11 in the amount 
of $375,000.00 and will be paid by Storm water revenue funds. 
 
Councilman Yawn made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to award a contract for the 
purchase of a combination sewer vacuum truck to Super Products LLC per NJPA Contract # 
022014-SPL in the amount of $332,363.00. This item was budgeted in fiscal year 2017 under 
CIP# STM-11 in the amount of $375,000.00 and will be paid by Storm water revenue funds. 



 
 

Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of Motion to Approve: APPLICATION # RZ 17-01-03: 
The Downtown Statesboro Development Authority requests a zoning map amendment for 
.29 acres of property located at 11 West Inman Street from HOC (Highway Oriented 
Commercial) and R4 (High Density Residential District) to the R4 (High Density 
Residential District) zoning district (Tax Parcel S19 000040 000). 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
DSDA Director Allen Muldrew spoke in favor of the request. No one spoke against the request.  
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Jones to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Jones made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to Approve: 
APPLICATION # RZ 17-01-03: The Downtown Statesboro Development Authority requests a 
zoning map amendment for .29 acres of property located at 11 West Inman Street from HOC 
(Highway Oriented Commercial) and R4 (High Density Residential District) to the R4 (High 
Density Residential District) zoning district (Tax Parcel S19 000040 000). Councilman Boyum, 
Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Second Reading and Consideration of a Motion to approve Ordinance 2017-04: An 
Ordinance to amend Section 6-3 of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Alcoholic 
Beverages) to redefine Catered Event. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to approve Ordinance 
2017-04: An Ordinance to amend Section 6-3 of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances 
(Alcoholic Beverages) to redefine Catered Event. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and 
Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2017-07: An Ordinance to amend Section 
6-19 of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinances (Alcoholic Beverages) to modify the 
procedures for administrative hearings on license violations. 
 
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to open the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
Mayor Moore questioned the section of the proposed ordinance regarding the appeal process. 
She requested the ordinance to read that the appeal process would be presented before Council if 
the applicant did not accept the Administrative Judge’s decision. 
 



 
 

Al Chapman spoke in response to the Mayor’s statement. He stated it may not be a good idea but 
did not elaborate on the topic.  
Councilman Chance made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to close the public hearing. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
There was no action taken on the first reading of this ordinance. 
 
Other Business from City Council 
 
Mayor Moore gave an updated on the Community Leadership Retreat.  There were several topics 
of interest. 
1. The widening of Hwy 67 to a 4 lane highway 
2. Plans are being made for the Ag Arena that would include horse training, camping, soccer  
     field and a Coliseum 
3. The Department of Transportation will commit up to $450,000 or 70% of the project, 
whichever is less, to support the Blue Mile project. The Department’s commitment will be 
contingent upon the City being awarded the “America’s Best Community” Grant. 
4. Mayor Moore stated Judge Mikell has not yet rendered a decision on the “Stay” regarding the 
City vs Gatto case.   She stated the decision may be handed down by the end of this week. 
 
Councilman Chance asked if anyone has noticed the Fair Road special use variance that was 
passed by Council. Several Council members stated the improvements look great. 
 
Councilman Boyum asked if there was any talk on the expansion on Hwy 67 at the Industrial 
Park.  There were no updates at this time. 
 
City Managers Comments 

A) Set the Budget Retreat Date 
 
Finance Director Cindy West asked Council to consider dates for the Budget retreat. The 
available dates would include April 14th, 20th or 28th.  The decision will be made at the next 
Council meeting. 
 
Deputy City Manager Robert Cheshire updated Council on the Coordinator Highway Assistance 
Maintenance Program (CHAMP).    
 
Public Comments (General) None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters”   
in accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 6:10 pm, Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Chance to enter into 
Executive Session. Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. There was a 5 minute break. 
 
Mayor Moore left the meeting. 



 
 

 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to exit Executive Session. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
At 6:35 pm, Mayor Pro Tem Travis Chance called the regular meeting back to order with no 
action being taken in Executive Session. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Yawn to adjourn the meeting. 
Councilman Boyum, Jones, Yawn, Riggs and Chance voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 6:36 pm. 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Travis L. Chance 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 
To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Robert Bryan, Statesboro Police Department Interim Chief of Police 
 
 
Date: February 28, 2017 
 
 
RE: March 7, 2017 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Awarding firearm to John Allen Smith on his retirement from SPD. 
 
 
Recommendation: Adoption of Resolution to allow Sgt John Allen Smith retain his 
duty weapon and badge upon his retirement.   
 
 
Background: Pursuant to O.C.G.A. 35-1-20 the City of Statesboro may elect to 
allow a retiring Police Officer to retain his duty weapon and badge as part of his 
or her compensation.  Sgt John Allen Smith is retiring from the Statesboro Police 
Department after honorably serving 30 years.   
 
 
Budget Impact: Less than $500.00 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments:  Resolution Honoring Retirement of Sgt John Allen Smith 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2017-11 
A RESOLUTION HONORING SERGEANT JOHN ALLEN SMITH  

UPON HIS RETIREMENT 
 
 

WHEREAS, John Allen Smith was hired as a Police Officer for the City of Statesboro on the 
2nd of November of 1987 and was promoted to the rank of Sergeant on the 11th of December  1989; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, prior to joining the Statesboro Police Department, Sergeant Smith served as a 
Dispatcher and Police Officer with the Metter Police Department from the 2nd of September 1979 
until the 1st of November 1987; and  

 
WHEREAS, Sergeant John Allen Smith has honorably served the citizens of Statesboro and 

the State of Georgia for over 37 years as a law enforcement officer; 
 

WHEREAS, during his career as a Police Officer Sergeant Smith has achieved over 1,843 
hours of Georgia P.O.S.T. recognized training and has been commended many times for his 
dedicated service to the community; 
 

THEREFORE, Pursuant to O.C.G.A. 35-1-20 the City of Statesboro shall impart Sergeant 
John Allen Smith, as part of his compensation, his duty weapon and badge to commemorate his 29 
years of honorable and selfless service to the citizens of Statesboro. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Statesboro 
does hereby commend and thank Sergeant John Allen Smith for many years of dedicated law 
enforcement service, and especially for his positive contributions to the Statesboro Police 
Department, and wishes him a healthy and enjoyable retirement. 

 
 

Adopted this 7th of March, 2017. 
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 

 



































 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Travis L. Chance 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
 
Date: February 27, 2017 
 
 
RE: March 7, 2017 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Statesboro Code of Ordinances: Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) 
Amendment modifying procedure for administrative hearings on licensee 
violations pursuant to Sec 6-19 (c) and (d) 
 
 
Recommendation: Alcohol Advisory Board approved 4-1 on Feb 13, 2017 
 
 
Background: Second Hearing 
 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
 
Council Person and District: N/A 
 
 
Attachments: Amended and existing subsection 
 
 
 
 
   



Ordinance 2017-07: An Ordinance Amending Chapter 6 of the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances (Alcoholic Beverages) 

 
WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council has determined there is sufficient reason and need to 
amend Chapter 6 (Alcoholic Beverages) of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the public hearing that preceded the adoption of the ordinance amendment was 
advertised; and 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia, in regular session assembled as follows: 
 
Chapter 6 Alcoholic Beverages of the Code of Ordinances, City of Statesboro, Georgia is hereby 
amended and shall read as follows:  
 
Sec. 6-19. - Compliance; violations; penalties. 
 
 (c)  Probation, suspension, revocation of license; administrative hearing, administrative hearing 
fee. 
 
(1)  An Administrative Judge nominated by the City Manager and approved by Mayor and City 
Council shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any action brought against any licensee holding a 
license issued pursuant to this Chapter seeking to revoke, suspend or place the licensee on 
probation.   Said action may be brought by the City Solicitor, the City Manager, or the Police 
Chief, or their respective designees.    
 
(2)  The Administrative Judge may suspend, revoke or impose terms and conditions of probation 
on the licensee, or any combination of suspension and terms and conditions of probation for one 
or more of the following reasons: 
 
 a.   The violation by the licensee, or licensee's employees or agents of any   
 state or federal law or regulation or any provision of this Chapter or other   
 ordinance of the City of Statesboro, at any time adopted, relating to the   
 sale, use, possession, or distribution of alcoholic beverages. 
 
 b. The violation  by the licensee, or licensee's employees or agents of any   
 federal or state law or of any local ordinance of the City of Statesboro,   
 which is related to building codes, fire codes, smoking, excise tax,    
 property tax, health, solid waste disposal, illegal gambling, or    
 controlled substances. 
 



 c. The operation of the licensee's business in such a manner as to constitute a  
 threat to public safety, welfare or health or in such a manner as to    
 constitute a nuisance, or the operation of a licensed business where   
 violations of federal, state, or local laws or ordinances frequently or   
 regularly occur. 
 
 d. The making of any untrue or misleading statement in the application for a   
 license or any renewal thereof or the omission from such application or   
 renewal of any information required in the application. 
  
 e. Permitting any person to engage in any activity on the premises for which   
 the license is issued or within the place of business, which is in violation   
 of the laws or regulations of any federal or state law or of any local   
 ordinance of the City of Statesboro, which is related to building codes, fire  
 codes, smoking, excise tax, property tax, health, solid waste disposal,   
 illegal gambling, alcohol, or other controlled substances. 
 
 (5) Any person holding any license issued pursuant to this Chapter or any employee, agent, or 
representative of a licensee who violates any provision of this Chapter while acting within the 
scope of their employment, agency, or representation of the licenses, or directs, consents to, 
permits, or acquiesces in such violation either directly or indirectly shall, by such conduct, 
subject the license to suspension, revocation or probation upon conditions. 
 
(6) For purposes of administrative action against a licensee, any act committed by an employee, 
agent or representative of a licensee in their capacity as an employee, agent or representative of 
the licensee that violates any provision of this chapter shall be deemed to be an act of the 
licensee. 
 
(7)  In order to take administrative action against a licensee, a hearing before the Administrative 
Judge shall be held on a date and time certain which shall be reflected on the summons of 
administrative hearing issued by the City Clerk or any other person specifically authorized by 
this Chapter or other law to issue such summons to appear before the Administrative Judge.  The 
summons of administrative hearing shall contain a place, date and time certain of the 
administrative hearing and shall be served on responding party more than five days before any 
scheduled hearing.  
 
(8)  The notice of administrative hearing shall be served by certified mail return/receipt 
requested; or by leaving a copy thereof at the licensed business location with an employee 
working therein, or by personal service on the responding party, or on an agent authorized by law 
or by appointment to receive service of process. Said notice shall also be sent by regular mail to 
the agent set out on the license or listed on the license application.  The City Clerk shall also 
forward a copy of this notice to the Special Agent in Charge of the Savannah Regional Office of 
the Alcohol and Tobacco Division of the Georgia Department of Revenue. 
 
 
 



 
(9)  The evidentiary standard for an action against a licensee is preponderance of the evidence. 
 
(10)  In considering the term of suspension, whether to permanently revoke the license or 
whether to impose terms and conditions of probation on the license, the Administrative Judge 
shall consider the following factors:  
 
a.  The gravity of the violation; 
 
b.  Any previous violations within the past three year period  as measured from the date of 
previous offense to the date of the current offense; 
 
c.  Actions of the licensee, its employees, subcontractors or agents in connection with the 
violation. 
 
(11)   The Administrative Judge may promulgate any rules of procedure for the administrative 
hearing not in conflict with this ordinance or other law. 
 
(12)  If action is taken against the licensee the Administrative Judge shall cause a written opinion 
to be prepared showing the reason or reasons for the revocation, suspension or probation of the 
license.  The written opinion can be the minutes of the hearing kept by the City Clerk showing 
the evidence considered and the ruling issued.  Upon finding by the Administrative Judge the 
opinion shall be the final decision.  The City Clerk shall notify the applicant of the final decision 
of the within five days of the adoption of the final decision Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 3-3-2.1 the 
City Clerk shall forward a copy of this final decision to the Special Agent in Charge of the 
Savannah Regional Office of the Alcohol and Tobacco Division of the Georgia Department of 
Revenue. 
 
(13)  Appeal of a final decision which imposes a license suspension exceeding five (5) days shall 
be in the form of a written appeal stating the reason(s) why the licensee disagrees with the 
decision of the Administrative Judge. The Administrative Judge may make a written response to 
said appeal.  Mayor and Council shall make a determination on whether or not to alter the final 
decision by either increasing or lessening the sanctions based solely on review of the original 
written decision, licensee’s written appeal, and any appeal response by the Administrative Judge. 
No oral argument or evidentiary hearing shall be allowed or considered by Mayor and Council. 
Any further appeal from the determination of Mayor and Council shall be by Petition for 
Certiorari to the Superior Court of Bulloch County. Appeal of any final decision of the 
Administrative Judge which levies a suspension of five (5) days or less shall be by Petition for 
Certiorari to the Superior Court of Bulloch County. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



(d) Temporary Suspension by City Manager Permitted.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, and 
upon determining it is in the interest of public safety the City Manager, upon a written 
recommendation of the Police Chief, or acting head of the Statesboro Police Department, and 
approval of the Mayor, may temporarily suspend any license provided for in this Chapter 
pending an administrative hearing and action in accordance with this Chapter.  The City 
Manager shall issue a written administrative order stating the reasons for the temporary 
suspension. If a license is temporarily suspended by the City Manager, the Mayor shall call a 
special administrative hearing pursuant to this Chapter as soon as practically possible, but no 
later than 10 days from the day the license is temporarily suspended.  
 
First Reading: February 21, 2017 
Second Reading: March 7, 2017 
 

_____________________ 
Jan J. Moore. Mayor 

 
_____________________ 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 
   
 



 
Sec. 6-19. - Compliance; violations; penalties. 
 
 (c)  Probation, suspension, revocation of license; administrative hearing, administrative hearing 
fee. 
 
(1)  The Mayor and City Council An Administrative Judge nominated by the City Manager and 
approved by Mayor and City Council shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any action brought 
against any licensee holding a license issued pursuant to this Chapter seeking to revoke, suspend 
or place the licensee on probation.   Said action may be brought by the City Solicitor, the City 
Manager, or the Police Chief, or their respective designees.    
 
(2)  The Mayor and City Council Administrative Judge may suspend, revoke or impose terms 
and conditions of probation on the licensee, or any combination of suspension and terms and 
conditions of probation for one or more of the following reasons: 
 
 a.   The violation by the licensee, or licensee's employees or agents of any   
 state or federal law or regulation or any provision of this Chapter or other   
 ordinance of the City of Statesboro, at any time adopted, relating to the   
 sale, use, possession, or distribution of alcoholic beverages. 
 
 b. The violation  by the licensee, or licensee's employees or agents of any   
 federal or state law or of any local ordinance of the City of Statesboro,   
 which is related to building codes, fire codes, smoking, excise tax,    
 property tax, health, solid waste disposal, illegal gambling, or    
 controlled substances. 
 
 c. The operation of the licensee's business in such a manner as to constitute a  
 threat to public safety, welfare or health or in such a manner as to    
 constitute a nuisance, or the operation of a licensed business where   
 violations of federal, state, or local laws or ordinances frequently or   
 regularly occur. 
 
 d. The making of any untrue or misleading statement in the application for a   
 license or any renewal thereof or the omission from such application or   
 renewal of any information required in the application. 
  
 e. Permitting any person to engage in any activity on the premises for which   
 the license is issued or within the place of business, which is in violation   
 of the laws or regulations of any federal or state law or of any local   
 ordinance of the City of Statesboro, which is related to building codes, fire  
 codes, smoking, excise tax, property tax, health, solid waste disposal,   
 illegal gambling, alcohol, or other controlled substances. 
 
 (5) Any person holding any license issued pursuant to this Chapter or any employee, agent, or 
representative of a licensee who violates any provision of this Chapter while acting within the 



scope of their employment, agency, or representation of the licenses, or directs, consents to, 
permits, or acquiesces in such violation either directly or indirectly shall, by such conduct, 
subject the license to suspension, revocation or probation upon conditions. 
 
(6) For purposes of administrative action against a licensee, any act committed by an employee, 
agent or representative of a licensee in their capacity as an employee, agent or representative of 
the licensee that violates any provision of this chapter shall be deemed to be an act of the 
licensee. 
 
(7)  In order to take administrative action against a licensee, a hearing before the Mayor and City 
Council Administrative Judge shall be held on a date and time certain which shall be reflected on 
the summons of administrative hearing issued by the City Clerk or any other person specifically 
authorized by this Chapter or other law to issue such summons to appear before the Mayor and 
City Council Administrative Judge.  The summons of administrative hearing shall contain a 
place, date and time certain of the administrative hearing and shall be served on responding party 
more than five days before any scheduled hearing.  
 
(8)  The notice of administrative hearing shall be served by certified mail return/receipt 
requested; or by leaving a copy thereof at the licensed business location with an employee 
working therein, or by personal service on the responding party, or on an agent authorized by law 
or by appointment to receive service of process. Said notice shall also be sent by regular mail to 
the agent set out on the license or listed on the license application.  The City Clerk shall also 
forward a copy of this notice to the Special Agent in Charge of the Savannah Regional Office of 
the Alcohol and Tobacco Division of the Georgia Department of Revenue. 
 
(9)  The evidentiary standard for an action against a licensee is preponderance of the evidence. 
 
(10)  In considering the term of suspension, whether to permanently revoke the license or 
whether to impose terms and conditions of probation on the license, the Mayor and City Council 
Administrative Judge shall consider the following factors:  
 
a.  The gravity of the violation; 
 
b.  Any previous violations within the past three year period  as measured from the date of 
previous offense to the date of the current offense; 
 
c.  Actions of the licensee, its employees, subcontractors or agents in connection with the 
violation. 
 
(11)   The Mayor and City Council Administrative Judge may promulgate any rules of procedure 
for the administrative hearing not in conflict with this ordinance or other law. 
 
(12)  If action is taken against the licensee the Mayor and City Council Administrative Judge 
shall cause a written opinion to be prepared by Mayor and Council showing the reason or reasons 
for the revocation, suspension or probation of the license.  The written opinion can be the 
minutes of the hearing kept by the City Clerk showing the evidence considered and the ruling 



issued.  Upon  adoption by the Mayor and City Council finding by the Administrative Judge the 
opinion shall be the final decision of the Mayor and City Council.  The City Clerk shall notify 
the applicant of the final decision of the Mayor and City Council within five days of the adoption 
of the final decision by the Mayor and City Council.  Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 3-3-2.1 the City 
Clerk shall forward a copy of this final decision to the Special Agent in Charge of the Savannah 
Regional Office of the Alcohol and Tobacco Division of the Georgia Department of Revenue. 
 
(13)  Appeal of a final decision Mayor and City Council which imposes a license suspension 
exceeding five (5) days shall be by Petition for Certiorari to the Superior Court of Bulloch 
County in the form of a written appeal stating the reason(s) why the licensee disagrees with the 
decision of the Administrative Judge. The Administrative Judge may make a written response to 
said appeal.  Mayor and Council shall make a determination on whether or not to alter the final 
decision by either increasing or lessening the sanctions based solely on review of the original 
written decision, licensee’s written appeal, and any appeal response by the Administrative Judge. 
No oral argument or evidentiary hearing shall be allowed or considered by Mayor and Council. 
Any further appeal from the determination of Mayor and Council shall be by Petition for 
Certiorari to the Superior Court of Bulloch County. Appeal of any final decision of the 
Administrative Judge which levies a suspension of five (5) days or less shall be by Petition for 
Certiorari to the Superior Court of Bulloch County. 
 
(d) Temporary Suspension by City Manager Permitted.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, and 
upon determining it is in the interest of public safety the City Manager, upon a written 
recommendation of the Police Chief, or acting head of the Statesboro Police Department, and 
approval of the Mayor, may temporarily suspend any license provided for in this Chapter 
pending an administrative hearing and action by the Mayor and City Council in accordance with 
this Chapter.  The City Manager shall issue a written administrative order stating the reasons for 
the temporary suspension. If a license is temporarily suspended by the City Manager, the Mayor 
shall call a special meeting of the City Council to hold an administrative hearing pursuant to this 
Chapter as soon as practically possible, but no later than 10 days from the day the license is 
temporarily suspended.  
   
 



 
 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 

Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 

Sue Starling, City Clerk 

J. Alvin Leaphart, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 

Phil Boyum, District 1 

Sam Jones, District 2 

Jeff Yawn, District 3 

John Riggs, District 4 

Travis L. Chance, District 5 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

    
 

To:  Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

 

From:  Brad Deal, P.E., City Engineer 

 Jason Boyles, Director of Public Works and Engineering 

 

Date: 2/22/2017 

 

RE: MULTIMODAL SAFETY & ACCESS PROJECT GRANT 

 

Policy Issue: N/A 

 

Recommendation:  

Submit East Main Sidewalk Project as candidate for Multimodal Safety & Access Project 

Grant. 

Background:  

The intent of the Multimodal Safety & Access Program is to provide funds for relatively 

small projects sited on the state route system that improve access, make a connection, or 

fill a gap in existing pedestrian or bicyclist infrastructure. A total of $2M in state funds is 

being made available in FY17 to fund the construction phase of projects statewide; the 

Department is targeting funding between 5 and 20 projects.  Proposed projects must be 

on the state route system and either connect or improve a connection in existing facilities 

for biking, walking, or connecting by biking or walking to transit. 

LGs must provide at least a 30% match; matching funds may cover preliminary 

engineering, public outreach, utilities, and right of way as well as construction.  Project 

must be under construction by December 31, 2017. 

Budget Impact:   

The East Main sidewalk from Lester Road to the East side of the Bypass is currently 

100% funded.  If grant is awarded, existing committed funds can be used towards 

extending sidewalk on East Main from Lester to Northside Drive or other areas.   

 

Council Person and District: Phil Boyum/District 1 

 

Attachments:   Multimodal Safety & Access Program Overview   

FY 17 Multimodal Safety & Access Project Proposal Form 











RESOLUTION #2017-07: 

A Resolution authorizing the City Manager to apply for the Georgia Department of Transportation 
(GDOT) Multimodal Safety & Access Project Grant for Fiscal Year 2017. 
 
 THAT WHEREAS,  the GDOT Multimodal Safety and Access Program provides funding assistance 

for projects on the state route system that improve access, or make a connection in existing 
pedestrian or bicyclist infrastructure for the benefit of the citizenry; 

 WHEREAS, the Multimodal Safety and Access Program Grant requires that the City present a 
project description for participation and submit a proposal form in order to receive funding 
assistance for the listed project, with the City providing at least 30% matching funds; 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. The City Engineer has prepared a project description that meets the requirements of the 
grant proposal.  The City Manager has reviewed the project and recommends approval by the City 
Council. 

Section 2. The City Council has reviewed the project proposal prepared by the City Engineer attached to 
this resolution and has received the recommendation of the City Manager. The City Council authorized 
the City Manager to submit the FY17 Multimodal Safety and Access Project Proposal Form. 

Section 3. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this 7th day of March, 2017. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

By:  ________________________                         Attest:  ______________________      
       Jan Moore, Mayor                 Sue Starling, City Clerk     
 

















RESOLUTION #2017-12: 

 A Resolution approving the City of Statesboro Proposed Fiscal Year 2017 Additional LMIG Application 
for Off-System Safety  Program List and further authorizing the Mayor to execute the Georgia 
Department of Transportation (GDOT) Local Maintenance & Improvement Grant (LMIG) Additional  
Application for Off-System Safety  for Fiscal Year 2017. 

 THAT WHEREAS, the City participates in the GDOT LMIG Program; 

 WHEREAS, this program provides funding assistance for road improvement projects within the 
City of Statesboro for the benefit of the citizenry; 

 WHEREAS, the LMIG program requires that the City present a project list for participation 
annually and that the City execute the Local Government Affidavit and Certification in order to 
receive funding assistance for the listed streets, with the City providing at least 30% matching 
funds; 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 

Section 1. The City Engineer has prepared a list of projects for funding through the LMIG program to the 
City Manager. The City Manager has reviewed the list and recommends approval by the City Council. 

Section 2. The City Council has reviewed the list prepared by the City Engineer attached to this 
resolution and has received the recommendation of the City Manager. The City Council authorized the 
Mayor to execute the Local Government Affidavit and Certification with GDOT. 

Section 3. That this Resolution shall be and remain effective from and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this 7th day of March, 2017. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

 

By:  ________________________                         Attest:  ______________________      
       Jan Moore, Mayor                 Sue Starling, City Clerk                                                 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Travis L. Chance 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Randy Wetmore, City Manager and Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
From: Allen Muldrew, Executive Director, Downtown Statesboro Development 
Authority 
 
 
Date: February 27, 2017 
 
 
RE: March 7, 2017 City Council Agenda Items 
 
 
Policy Issue: Leasing real properties from Norfolk Southern to develop a dog 
park and a green space. 
 
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
 
Background: First Reading 
 
 
Budget Impact: $300 annual lease per property 
 
 
Council Person and District: Councilmen Jones, Riggs, and Boyum. Districts 1, 3, 
and 4. 
 
 
Attachments: Proposed Leases 
 
 
 
 
   



 RESOLUTION 2017-08: A RESOLUTION  
 

THAT WHEREAS, Section 1-2 of the Charter of the City of Statesboro provides that the Mayor 
and City Council can receive, possess, and retain to themselves and their successors in office, for the use 
and benefit of the City of Statesboro, in perpetuity or for any term of years, any estate or estates, real or 
personal, of every kind and nature, inside or outside the corporate limits for corporate purposes; 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to improve blighted properties with the municipal 

limits particularly in the downtown area; 
 
WHEAREAS, Downtown Statesboro Development Authority desires to develop a dog park for the 

use and enjoyment of the City’s residents and visitors; 
 
WHEAREAS, Norfolk Southern has offered the City a lease on blighted real property in 

downtown Statesboro; 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to enter into this lease and assist DSDA in 

developing the property as a dog park; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 

 
That City shall enter into the lease with Norfolk Southern referred to as Activity 1215027 and 

attached hereto as a periodic lease with annual rent of $300.00. 
 

 
 
                                                                                                                         Adopted this ___st day of ____, 2017 
 
                                                                                                                         CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                              By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor   
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                            Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk               
 



 RESOLUTION 2017-09: A RESOLUTION  
 

THAT WHEREAS, Section 1-2 of the Charter of the City of Statesboro provides that the Mayor 
and City Council can receive, possess, and retain to themselves and their successors in office, for the use 
and benefit of the City of Statesboro, in perpetuity or for any term of years, any estate or estates, real or 
personal, of every kind and nature, inside or outside the corporate limits for corporate purposes; 

 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to improve blighted properties with the municipal 

limits particularly in the downtown area; 
 
WHEAREAS, Downtown Statesboro Development Authority desires to develop green spaces to 

beautify and transform blighted areas; 
 
WHEAREAS, Norfolk Southern has offered the City a lease on blighted real property in 

downtown Statesboro; 
 
WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council desire to enter into this lease and assist DSDA in 

developing the property as green space; 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia as follows: 

 
That City shall enter into the lease with Norfolk Southern referred to as Activity 1215028 and 

attached hereto as a periodic lease with annual rent of $300.00. 
 

 
 
                                                                                                                         Adopted this ___st day of ____, 2017 
 
                                                                                                                         CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                              By: Jan J. Moore, Mayor   
 
 
                                                                                                                       _____________________________ 
                                                                                                                            Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk               
 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
Randy Wetmore, City Manager 

Robert Cheshire, Deputy City Manager 
Sue Starling, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Sam Lee Jones 
Jeff B. Yawn 
John C. Riggs 
Travis L. Chance 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: City Manager, Randy Wetmore, Mayor Jan Moore 
 
 
From: Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 
Date: 02-27-2017 
 
 
RE: March 7, 2017 City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Policy Issue: N/A 
 
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
 
Background: This is a reoccurring event and has been waived for years by 
Mayor and Council 
 
 
Budget Impact: taxes would be waived in the amount of $20,941.98 for 2016 on 
Butler Homes, Groover Homes, Cone Homes and Braswell Homes. These low 
income housing projects are managed by the Statesboro Housing Authority. 
 
 
Council Person and District: Butler Homes- Councilman Sam Lee Jones, District 2 
Groover Homes, Cone Homes and Braswell Homes-Councilman Phil Boyum- 
District 1 
 
Attachments: Resolution 2017-10 attached 
 
 
 
 



 
 
RESOLUTION 2017-10: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE WAIVER OF ANY 
PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES (PILOT) BY THE STATESBORO HOUSING AUTHORITY 
TO THE CITY OF STATESBORO FOR THE 2016 TAX YEAR 
 
 
  THAT WHEREAS, the City of Statesboro has previously established the Statesboro 
Housing Authority to provide subsidized rental housing to low- and moderate-income citizens; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Statesboro Housing Authority is exempt from property taxes but is 
required to make a payment in lieu of taxes  (PILOT) based upon the amount of rental income 
during the fiscal year; and 
 

WHEREAS, in previous years the Mayor and City Council have annually waived the 
requirement to make this payment in lieu of taxes in order for the Housing Authority to utilize 
that money on  capital improvements and/or maintenance on its facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Statesboro Housing Authority has asked that the payment in lieu of taxes 
be waived again for the 2016 tax year, with the $20,941.98 to be used for maintenance on the 
facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Statesboro Housing Authority has provided evidence that prior PILOT 
funds that were waived have been used for maintenance on the facilities; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Statesboro Housing Authority and the City of Statesboro enjoy an 
excellent working relationship, and the Mayor and City Council wish to assist the Authority in its 
maintenance efforts; 
 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and City Council of the City of 
Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 

 
Section 1.  That the  “Payment in Lieu of Taxes” in the amount of $20,941.98 due to the 

City for the 2016 Tax Year from the Statesboro Housing Authority is hereby waived so that the 
funds can be used for additional maintenance on the Authority’s facilities. 
 

  Section 2.  That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from and after 
its date of adoption. 
 

Passed and adopted this ____ day of March, 2017. 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
                                                                                                   BY: ________________________ 
                                                                                                                  Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
                                                                                               
                                                                                               ATTEST: ______________________ 
                                                                                                                 Sue Starling, City Clerk 






	03-07-2017 Council Agenda
	03-2017 Strategic Plan Kick Off
	02-21-2017 Council minutes
	03-2017-11  Retirement John Allen Smith   Memo  Firearm
	03-2017-11 Retirement Resolution
	03-2017 THE LIBRARY
	03-2017 LITTLE ITALY
	03-2017-07 Ordinance Admin Judge Council Agenda Memo   2
	03-2017-07 Proposed ordinance Admin Judge
	WHEREAS, the City has previously adopted an ordinance regulating alcoholic beverages; and

	03-2017-07 Ordinance Revision- Admin Judge
	03-07-2017-07  MEMO Multimodal Safety
	03-07-2017-07 FY 17 Multimodal Safety & Access Project Proposal Form
	03-07-2017-07 Multimodal Safety & Access Program Overview
	03-07-2017-07 Resolution Multimodal Grant  for City Council FY2017
	03-2017-12  Additional GDTO LMIG-memo
	03-2017-12 Resolution Supplemental LMIG resolution for City Council FY2017
	03-2017-08 Council Agenda Memorandum Dog Park-Green Space
	03-2017-08 Resolution Dog Park (1)
	03-2017-09 Resolution- Green Space (1)
	03-2017-10 Memo waiver of taxes for Housing Authority
	03-2017-10 Resolution housing authority taxes
	03-2017-10 Housing Authority request

